2009

Jennifer Ottens v. Nickolas Coleman and Dan McNeil : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal is pursuant to URAP Rule 4a. At a trial, the Trial Court granted Defendants' Motion for Directed Verdict. Exhibit A. Final Judgment was entered on February 13, 2009. Plaintiff filed her Notice of Appeal on March 11, 2009. TR 986.

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES, STANDARD OF REVIEW
AND CITATION PRESERVING ISSUE FOR APPEAL**

I. FIRST ISSUE ON APPEAL

In spite of evidence of his failure to secure his personal property and in directing the loading thereof, did the Trial Court err in granting Defendant, Dan McNeil's (hereafter, Dan) Motion for a Directed Verdict and thereby dismissing Plaintiff's causes of action against Dan based upon a). direct liability and b). vicarious liability?

A directed verdict is only sustained if after “examining all evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, there is no competent evidence that would support a verdict in the non-moving party’s favor.” *Merino v. Albertsons, Inc.*, 1999 UT 14, ¶ 3, 975 P.2d 467. Issue I was preserved for appeal at TR 984-986.

II. SECOND ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion by denying Plaintiff’s motion to join Dan’s son, Jake, as a party when evidence indicated that Dan had potentially mislead law enforcement that he was the driver of the vehicle? ““The standard of review of a denial to amend pleadings is abuse of discretion”” *Sulzen v. Williams*, 977 P.2d 497 (Utah 1992). Issue II was preserved for review at TR 115-123, 131-175.

III. THIRD ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the Trial Court err when it allowed Dan to assert his Corporate Shield defense at trial and denied Plaintiff’s Motion to add D & K as a party defendant? As a legal determination, the Standard of Review is for Correctness. When the court’s analysis involves a legal determination, such determination will be reviewed “for correctness.” *Hansen*, 852 P.2d 977, 978, 979 (Utah 1993). Issue III was preserved for review at 881 (Counsel argued plaintiff’s motion to preclude this defense and in the alternative, under Rule 15(b) to amend the complaint to add D & K as a party), 928, 929, TT 7-10, 17:14-25.

IV. FOURTH ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the Trial Court err when it granted Dan's motion to exclude evidence that he had been issued a traffic citation for failure to secure his load and had pled guilty thereto and paid the fine thereon? The trial court is granted broad discretion to admit or exclude evidence, and its decision thereon will only be disturbed if there is an abuse of discretion. *State v. Whittle*, 1999 UT 96, ¶ 20, 989 P.2d 52. Issue IV was preserved for review at 558-567, 769-791, 882-883, 858.

V. FIFTH ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the Court Err when it denied Plaintiff's fourth motion to exclude evidence regarding when Plaintiff had retained an attorney? The trial court is granted broad discretion to admit or exclude evidence, and its decision thereon will only be disturbed if there is an abuse of discretion. *State v. Whittle*, 1999 UT 96, ¶ 20, 989 P.2d 52. Issue V was preserved for review at 884, 764A-765, 804-808, 820-831.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

The second and third issues in this case is governed by URCP Rule 15(a) & (b) that states:

Rule 15 (a) . . . A party may amend his pleading . . . only by leave of court . . . ; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires . . .

(b) Amendments to conform to the evidence. When issues not raised by the pleading are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings. Such amendments of the pleadings as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and to raise these issues may be made upon motion of any party at any time, even after judgment; but failure so to amend does not affect the result of the trial of these issues. If evidence is objected to at the trial on the ground that it is not within the issues made by the pleadings, the court may allow the pleadings to be amended

when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subverted thereby and the objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the admission of such evidence would prejudice him in maintaining his action or defense upon the merits. The court shall grant a continuance, if necessary, to enable the objecting party to meet such evidence.

(c) Relation back of amendments. Whenever the claim or defense asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleading, the amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading.

The third issue in this case is governed by URCP Rule 12 and 9(l) that states:

Rule 12 (a) . . . Unless otherwise provided by statute or order of the court, a defendant shall serve an answer . . .

(b) . . . Every defense, in law or fact, to claim for relief in any pleading, whether a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, shall be asserted in the responsive pleading thereto . . .

. . . .

(h) Waiver of defenses. A party waives all defenses and objections not presented either by motion or by answer or reply. . .

Rule 9 (l)(1) A party seeking to allocate fault to a non-party . . . shall file:

(l)(1)(A) a description of the factual and legal basis on which fault can be allocated; and

(l)(1)(B) information known or reasonably available to the party identifying the non-party, including name, address, telephone number and employer. If the identity of the non-party is unknown, the party shall so state.

(l)(2) The information specified in subsection (l)(1) must be included in the party's responsive pleading if then known or must be included in a supplemental notice filed within a reasonable time after the party discovers the factual and legal basis on which fault can be allocated but no later than the deadline specified in the discovery plan under Rule 26(f). The court, upon motion and for good cause shown, may permit a party to file the information specified in subsection (l)(1) after the expiration of any period permitted by this rule, but in no event later than 90 days before trial.

(l)(3) A party may not seek to allocate fault to another except by compliance with this rule.

STATEMENTS OF THE CASE/SUMMARY OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

After initial discovery and the depositions of Dan and his son, Jacob McNeil (Dan's son, referred to as Jake herein) were taken in this case, Plaintiff, Jen Ottens, moved to add Jake as a party defendant. The Trial Court denied this motion because the statute of limitations had passed. The matter then proceeded to trial against Dan in December 2008. After two days of testimony, the Trial Court granted Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. FACTS RELEVANT TO TRIAL COURT'S DIRECTED VERDICT

1. After a trial in the above matter between December 15-16, 2008, the Defendant moved for a directed verdict. On February 13, 2009, the Trial Court entered a Directed Verdict against Plaintiff. The Trial Court held:

1. Plaintiff's oral motion to admit into evidence a statement offered by unknown individuals but alleged by plaintiff to be partially by Dan McNeil is denied. The court . . . allowed counsel for plaintiff to freely question Dan McNeil regarding this statement and allowed this evidence to go to the jury. The statement contains references to insurance which are contrary to this court's prior order in limine and is of unknown authorship and does not appear to be inherently reliable.

. . . .

3. The Court, having carefully considered Dan McNeil's motion for directed verdict, hereby grants the same. The court finds that there is no evidence upon which a reasonable juror could conclude that Jake McNeil was acting as an employee of or in the course and scope of employment with Dan McNeil personally. The court finds there is no basis from which vicarious liability would lie on the part of Dan McNeil for the actions of Jake McNeil.

4. The Court further finds that there is no credible evidence upon which a juror could conclude that Dan McNeil breached a duty owed to the plaintiff

to secure the load in the truck owned by an driven by Jake McNeil. TR 984-986.

2. On March 29, 2002, Dan P. McNeil was moving his property from his house in Bluffdale to his condo on Fort Union Boulevard at approximately 1300 East. Dan P. McNeil Trial Transcript (Dan TT) 3:11-14.

3. Dan testified that his son, Jake, his daughter and somebody else were there to assist him in the move. Dan TT 3:15-17.

4. Dan was moving due to “the last deal with [him] and [his] wife, which included [his] ‘office’ and some of his ‘personal stuff . . .’” Dan TT 3:18-21.

5. Dan moved his personal things from the Bluffdale residence during this particular move, including his clothing and personal hygiene items. Dan TT 36: 9-15.

6. Dan however, during this move, did not move from the Bluffdale residence, “boxes of tax returns, miscellaneous stuff, tools, all [his] office, because [he] was still using the office.” Dan TT 36:23-25; 37:1.

7. Jake testified at trial that a divorce between his father, Dan, and Kim McNeil precipitated the move, and that Jake helped his father, Dan, move his personal belongings and his office out of his residence in Bluffdale, Utah to Dan’s condo. Jake TT 7:10-25, 8:14-20, 9:11-24.

8. Jake further testified at trial that in his truck he moved “some kitchen chairs,” “a large wooden desk,” “a dresser and probably a filing cabinet, [and] some boxes . . .” Jake TT 7:10-25, 8:14-20, 9:11-24.

9. As was pointed out at trial, at his deposition prior to trial, and contrary to his trial testimony, when Jake was asked what he moved for his father, Dan, he only indicated he moved a “kitchen table and chairs and some boxes.” Jake **did not mention** any office equipment nor mention the word “office.” Jake TT 8:21-25, 9:1-10.

10. As was further pointed out at trial, at no time in his deposition prior to trial did Jake ever indicate that Dan and Jake were moving D & K Office equipment on the day of the accident. Jake TT 28:15-25, 29:1-10.

11. To transport the property, Dan testified that two trucks were backed up to the residence’s porch and that he, “helped load both of them,” and he also helped “secure the property in the vehicles.” To secure the loads Dan helped his son, Jake, weave a rope by, “just throwing ropes back and forth and hooking them in the eye hooks.” TT 7:19-25, 8:1, 7-16, 9:6-14.

12. Dan did not use any tarps to secure the load. Moreover Dan did not inspect the loads to ensure they were secure. TT 7:19-25, 8:1, 7-16, 9:6-14.

13. Jake testified that Dan was “directing the move,” and that Dan “was supervising the loading of his possessions.” Jake TT 24:8-10, 29:8-10.

14. Regarding the chair that caused the accident, Jake’s personal opinion was that the chair “probably got missed when the ropes were getting looped through everything.” Jake TT 19:1-20.

15. Dan does not remember what was packed in either his or in Jake’s truck. Dan

TT 23: 12-19.

16. Dan recalls paying his son some, “gas money or something.” Dan acknowledged at trial that in his deposition, he had testified that he had not given his son a check. Dan TT 8:2-6, 9:15-19, 10:12-15. Jake, however, remembers getting paid through the D & K payroll for moving Dan’s personal property. Jacob TT 14:3-25.

17. At trial only, and not before, Dan’s legal position was that his son, Jake, was working for D & K when he moved Dan’s property and furniture. Dan TT 25:24-25; 26:1-5.

18. Dan’s business was D & K Finish Carpentry (D & K), which did finish work in houses. It was not a moving company. Dan TT 3:22-25, 4:1-3.

19. Jake, Dan’s son, has worked for D& K multiple times throughout his life. At trial, Jake was asked during what time periods he was employed by D& K. After Jake was admonished by the Trial Judge, not to “guess” or “pull things out of the air,” Jake indicated that he did work for D & K, “probably between 1992 and ‘94 and then again probably ‘95 or ‘96 through maybe 2001.” Jake TT 3:15-25, 4:1-17. As noted above at ¶ 2, the move and accident occurred on March 29, 2002, and therefore, the accident occurred after Jake worked for D & K.

20. According to Dan’s trial and deposition testimony (which was presented at trial), after the trucks were fully loaded, Jake and a companion left first and then, approximately 15 minutes to 30 minutes after, Dan followed his son, Jake, with his loaded

vehicle. Dan TT 9:20-22, 10:4-11, 16-25, 11: 1.

21. On his way to his new apartment, Dan testified that he, “got almost there,” and he, “called Jake on the cell phone, because [Dan] thought [he] recognized one of [his] black chairs on the side of the road.” He saw the kitchen chair after 106th South around Costco. He told Jake that, “It looks like you’re missing one,” and that Dan would be there in a minute. The kitchen chair “was sitting on its back . . . on the side of the road by . . . a cement embankment . . . It didn’t look damaged.” Dan TT 11:6-25, 12: 1-23.

22. At trial, the following factual assertions made in the **Second** Amended Complaint, filed on August 27, 2007, were pointed out to the jury as follows:

“Jake McNeil was traveling northbound on I-15 at about 11800 South on March 29th, 2002, in a green 1996 Ford truck. At approximately 11:40 a.m. a chair fell from the truck driven by Jake McNeil and landed in the center lane. This chair had been loaded onto the truck under the direction of, on behalf of, and with the assistance of Dan McNeil. Dan McNeil had hired his son Jake McNeil and another unknown white male to assist him in loading and moving his personal property from a rental residence in Bluffdale, Utah to an apartment on 13th East 7200 South. Mr. Dan McNeil paid Jake McNeil to assist him in transporting his personal property. The chair that fell out of the loaded truck was the personal property of Dan McNeil.” Dan TT 27:3-16; 28:13-16; TR 376-382, 429-433.

23. After this was read to the Jury, Dan was asked at trial to read what his Answer was to these factual assertions in the **Second** Amended Complaint. He did so and read the following:

“The defendant admits that a chair fell from the truck owned and driven by Jake McNeil and that the chair belongs to Dan McNeil, but denies the remainder of the allegations contained in this paragraph.” Dan TT 27:3-16; 28:13-16; TR 422-428.

24. However, contrary to Dan’s position in this lawsuit and at trial, the Highway

Patrol Report (Plaintiff's Exhibit #2) identified Dan as the driver of the vehicle from which the kitchen chair fell that caused the accident in this case.¹ TR 151-153, 155, 157, 992, Plaintiff's proposed trial Exh. 2. Dan was also identified as the driver in "Dan McNeil's Written Statement." TR 151-153, 155, 157, 992, Plaintiff's proposed trial Exh. 2. Although Plaintiff's counsel was allowed to examine Dan regarding this document, as noted above in ¶ 1, the trial judge prohibited its admission into evidence because it mentioned insurance and was hearsay.

25. Nevertheless, in regards to the Highway Patrol Report about the accident, Dan identified the following handwritten notes therein to be similar to his handwriting:

"Registered Owner, D&K Finish Carpentry;" the address Dan was moving out of – *"15400 Pony Express Road, Utah, 84065;"* Dan's phone number – *"801-835-8915;"* **the driver's name** – ***"Dan McNeil;"*** Dan's date of birth – *"11-29-55;"* Dan's age at the time – *"46;"* Years of Dan's driving experience – *"Twenty-nine;"* the Ford truck from which the chair fell – *"1996 Ford blue-green pickup truck."* Dan TT 15:4-25, 16:1-12; 17-19; 20:1-19; TR 922.

26. At in his deposition taken on August 10, 2006, as was pointed out to the jury, Dan asserted that he could not recall talking to any officer about the accident. Dan TT 33:5-8.

¹ Dan cited for failure to secure his load, and in fact pled guilty and paid the ticket. This admission against interest was not allowed to be presented to the jury.

27. Jake testified that he first became aware that there had been an accident when his father, Dan, called him on “a work cell phone,” and asked Jake what he was doing. Jake, “told him that [they] were about, three quarters of the way from unloading all the stuff. And [Dan] asked [Jake] to go count the chairs.” Jake then went upstairs to the condo and counted the kitchen chairs. Jake TT 9:25, 10:1-14.

28. Jake testified that he counted the kitchen chairs and indicated to Dan that, “there were three,” and then Dan responded, “well, I think one of the chairs fell out on the freeway so I’m going to go back and talk to the police officers.” Jake TT 12:17-20.

29. At the trial, Jake testified that when Dan called Jake, that Dan told Jake that Dan had been contacted by the police, and that, “they believ[ed] that one of his chairs was involved with an accident.” Jake TT 9:10-16.

30. At trial, it was brought to the jury’s attention that in Jake’s deposition taken prior to trial, Jake testified that Dan told him Dan was, “going to go back to where [he] saw the chair” and that Dan thought, “. . . one of the chairs fell out on the freeway so [he was] going to go back and talk to the police officers,” and that Dan, “would go back and take care of it.” Jake then told his father to let him know as soon as he found out what was going on. Jake TT 12:16-25, 13:1-16. It was only after Jake had shared testimony in his deposition that Dan had admitted to speaking with a police officer, that Dan finally admitted at trial that he could remember a police officer “calling him” about the accident. Dan TT 32:15-17.

31. Jake did not see the chair fall from his vehicle. Jake TT 19:1-20.

32. While driving, Jake testified that he never changed lanes but that he, “stayed in the right hand lane, the slow lane, the whole way there.” Jake TT 26:3-7.

33. The Plaintiff testified that the chair flew out from a green truck when the truck changed lanes from the right lane to the center lane. TT 56:1-19. This was also indicated in the Highway Patrol Report. TR 152, 922.

35. In his answer, Dan never asserted the Defense of Corporate Shield, nor did he ever make a Rule 9(l) Designation of Fault that D & K bore any liability for the accident. He did, however, in a Rule 9(1) Designation of Fault and his Answers designate Jake and Jiffy Lube. TR 63, 69-70, 346 478.

B. FACTS APPLICABLE TO COURT’S DENIAL OF MOTION TO AMEND

36. This lawsuit was filed approximately on June 22, 2005. TR 1-5.

37. Plaintiff’s complaint stated that on March 29, 2002, Plaintiff Jennifer Ottens was traveling northbound on 1-15 at approximately 11800 South in Salt Lake County, Utah, in a 1992 Red Ford F150. The weather was sunny and dry and there was good visibility. TR 2.

38. Plaintiff’s complaint alleged that as Ms. Ottens was driving, a chair flew out of a truck driven by Dan, and that she slowed to a stop in front of a chair and was then rear-ended and injured. TR 2.

39. The Highway Patrol Report indicated that the accident was caused when a

chair flew out of the back of a pickup truck driven by Dan. Dan's address was indicated as being in Bluffdale, Utah. TR 922.

40. Plaintiff's counsel sought to effect service upon Dan. TR 215-217.

41. Plaintiff first tried to serve Dan in Salt Lake at the address Dan had indicated on the Highway Patrol Report but he had moved. Therefore, on Sept. 1, 2005, Plaintiff had to submit an order to compel the Utah Dept. of Public Safety (UDPS) to release any address information it had of Dan's whereabouts. TR 11-14. Plaintiff obtained information and attempted to serve Dan at 1518 E. 4500 S. and then at 285 W. 100 S. Heber, Utah but each time he had moved ahead. TR 37, 41, 51, 168. Then, Plaintiff tried to serve Dan in Moab, Utah but this person, while sharing the same name, was the wrong individual. TR 160-161.

42. Dan's auto insurance was Auto-Owners Insurance. Plaintiff's counsel requested that Auto Owners Insurance accept service on Defendant McNeil's behalf, or provide information so that he could be served, but it refused. TR 37, 170-171.

43. Auto Owners Insurance contacted the firm of Smith & Glauser, and communications between Mr. Lambert and Michael Wright of Smith & Glauser began regarding Mr. Wright accepting service on behalf of Auto-Owners Insurance. TR 47, 53-54, 173, .

44 . **Mr. Wright indicated that his firm would accept service on behalf of Dan.** TR 215-217 (Aff. Loren M. Lambert ¶¶ 4-10). Several inquiries were placed by

Plaintiff's counsel's staff, and at least one voice mail message was left for Mr. Wright regarding the acceptance of service, and on two different occasions Mr. Wright requested an Acceptance of Service and it was sent to him in January, 2006. TR 56, 58, 173, 175, 177, 224, 226, 230. **However, it was not until February 14, 2006 that Mr. Wright informed Ms. Ottens' counsel that he had been instructed by Auto-Owners to not accept service. TR 47-48, 62, 179, 228, 230.**

45. Amidst these problems, on November 23, 2005, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Alternate Service, which was granted December 1, 2005. TR 36-39. Then, on February 24, 2006, Plaintiff filed an Amended Motion for Alternate Service, which was granted March 6, 2006. TR 44-49.

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