2009

# Jennifer Ottens v. Dan McNeil : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The testimony given at trial also undermines the assumption that Mr. McNeil told Trooper Lee that he was the driver of the vehicle. Counsel for Ms. Ottens aggressively questioned Mr. McNeil about the police report, but was unable to establish that the writing in the document was his. Under examination, Dan McNeil noted that there were at least three different types of handwriting in the report (Rec. 1012 p. 17:21-23), and that while some of them were similar to his own (Rec. 1012 p. 16:2, 17:4-6; 18:3-23) others were not (Rec. 1012 p. 17:18-20, 18:9-15). More significant, however, is the testimony that he did not recall filling out the form at issue, that he did not believe he had filled out the form, and that

he “definitely did not fill out that I was the driver of the vehicle.” (Rec. 1012 p. 21:21-25, 22:1.)

Based on this evidence only one conclusion can be drawn. Ms. Ottens’ assumption that Dan McNeil made a misrepresentation about who was driving the vehicle in question is not supported by any competent evidence.

**3. Jake McNeil cannot be made liable for the purported acts of Dan McNeil. The equitable tolling may not be applied to bring Jake into the lawsuit after the limitations period expired.**

Even if this court were to give credence to Ms. Ottens’ unfounded speculation regarding the source of the misinformation contained on the official accident report, the equitable discovery rule would still not apply to allow an amendment in this case. As set out above, the exception created in *Russell Packard Development v. Carson* 2005 UT 14 ¶ 26, 108 P.3d 741 is based upon principals of equitable estoppel, which are designed to keep a party who has committed some malfeasance or wrongdoing from benefitting from that impropriety. With respect to a statute of limitations, our Supreme Court held that “a defendant who causes a delay in bringing a cause of action is estopped from relying on that statute of limitations as a defense to the action.” *Id* ¶26.

Here, there is a very basic reason why this limited exception would not allow Ms. Ottens to amend her complaint and add Jake as a party after the limitations period had expired. Simply put, the appellant did not allege or prove that Jake played any part in providing inaccurate information to the investigating officer (or to the appellant); indeed

there is not a single fact anywhere in the record that even hints at such an occurrence. And it would be improper to attribute the purported acts of his father to the son. Because he did not cause any delay in bringing the action against himself, Jake was, and is, fully entitled to take refuge in the defense provided by the statute of limitations. Estoppel is inappropriate.

**4. Equity does not require that the discovery rule apply in this case.**

Finally, and briefly, this Court should also recognize that principles of equity, as applied to the facts in this case, do not compel the conclusion that Ms. Ottens should have been permitted to amend her complaint to add Jake McNeil. And they most certainly do not show that the trial court abused its discretion by denying her request.

Ms. Ottens hired counsel to pursue recovery for the injuries she allegedly suffered in the underlying car accident within months of the accident. (Rec. 1011p139:9-11) She came to a swift settlement with Ms. Cindy Quast, the driver who actually collided with the vehicle that hit Ms. Ottens' truck. (Rec. 1011p.137:1-7) After this she simply waited for a number of years, and then approximately three years later she finally filed suit against Mr. McNeil and Mr. Coleman. (Rec.1-7).

It is also worth noting that before the statute of limitations had expired, Dan McNeil put Ms. Ottens on notice that Jake McNeil was the driver of the pick identified in the police report. The defendant answered his complaint within days of his counsel accepting service, and in that answer he stated that Jake was the likely driver of the Ford pick-up. (Rec. 63-64, 65-74) While the appellant complains that this designation was somewhat equivocal, Mr.

McNeil did his best to provide information about an event that occurred almost four years earlier. The uncertainty arose because Mr. McNeil was unsure whether Jake or another individual was driving when the truck left his former residence. Both Dan and Jake testified that on the day of the move, Dan was primarily inside the home supervising the loading of boxes, and was not present when Jake departed. (Rec. 110:24:8-14, 1012 8:23-25) At any rate, while there were only a few days before the statute ran, Ms. Ottens was aware of two important facts. First, she knew that Dan was not the operator of the Ford pick-up. Second, she knew the name of the likely driver. Yet, armed with these facts, she did nothing. A motion to amend was not made for more than five months. (Rec. 115-116) Clearly, this is not a timely and prompt response, and it need not be rewarded.

Finally, it is important to understand that the other issues raised by Ms. Ottens as evidence to justify her inaction are without merit. She complains that Mr. McNeil's insurer delayed in accepting service, but she fails to disclose that the delay was created in part by her own actions. When defense counsel became aware that Mr. McNeil's insurer did not know his location, it recognized that acceptance of service, which had been authorized by the insurer, could potentially compromise Mr. McNeil's rights. Counsel offered to accept service even though it did not know the whereabouts of Mr. McNeil, if Ms. Ottens would agree to cap any recovery to the limits of insurance. When that offer was turned down, however, there was no choice but to decline to accept<sup>12</sup> service. (All of these facts are disclosed in

---

<sup>12</sup> The discussions were conducted in a two week period after a copy of the complaint and acceptance was forwarded to defense counsel. (Rec.228,230).

correspondence attached to Appellants papers moving to amend. Rec. 228-230). Efforts were made to skip trace Mr. McNeil, however, and when they proved successful, arrangements were then made to accept service, and an answer was filed before the expiration of the twenty days. (Rec.230, 65-74). Thus, rather than showing delay, the facts reveal that Mr. McNeil acted with reasonable promptness, and disclosed the essential facts of the underlying accident in time for Ms. Ottens to name Jake as a defendant to the action. Her failure to do so should rest at her own feet.

**III) The Court did not abuse its discretion in denying the appellant's motion to amend its complaint to allege a cause of action against D&K Finish Carpentry, Inc., The motion to bring a new party into the case was made after the close of appellant's evidence on liability.**

On December 17, 2008, after acknowledging to the court that he had finished presenting his evidence on liability<sup>13</sup>, appellant's counsel moved to amend its complaint to add D&K Finish Carpentry, Inc., ("D&K") as a party to the action, and to set out a cause of action alleging that D&K was an alter-ego of Mr. McNeil, thereby allowing it to pierce the corporate veil. (Rec. 1013. 17:16-22, pp. 28:12-25, 29:1-13). After hearing argument on the matter the following morning, the court declined to allow such an amendment, noting that the motion was untimely and posed a significant danger of prejudice to both Dan McNeil and

---

<sup>13</sup> During a discussion that began with questions about jury instructions, the court stated that it anticipated motions to dismiss based on the evidence presented, and asked counsel if he had finished presenting evidence on the issue of liability. The parties stipulated that the evidence regarding liability was complete, and agreed to present argument on various motions, including that to amend the pleadings to name "D&K" as an additional party the following day. This stipulation was repeated the following day. (Rec. 1013, pp. 40:18-25, 41:1-17, 1013 p.1-3)

to D&K. (Rec. 1014 pp.56-58) In doing so, it stated that there was no identity of interest between D&K and Dan McNeill that could justify amending after the statute of limitations had run. The court also held that permitting such an amendment would violate the Due Process Clauses of both the United States Constitution and the Utah State Constitution. (Rec. 984-987.)

The appellant has characterized this ruling as a mistake of law on the part of the court, and has argued that it should therefore be reviewed under a “correctness” standard. (Brief of Appellant p. 2) This, however, is incorrect. Under well established case law, a denial of a motion to amend is reviewed under an “abuse of discretion” standard. *Sulzen v. Williams* 977 P.2d 497 (Utah 1992) And, when this standard is applied to the facts on the record in this matter, it becomes evident that the court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion. In fact, the court made the proper decision.

**1.) The motion was untimely and posed a significant opportunity for prejudice to Mr. McNeil and to D&K.**

Rule 15(a) of the *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure* provides that a party must seek leave of the court to amend its pleadings after a responsive pleading has been filed, and further states that the court should freely grant such permission “when justice so requires.” This language has been interpreted to mean that the trial court should liberally allow amendments, however, this discretion is not without bounds. When an amendment is untimely, unjustified, or poses the risk of prejudice to the opposing party, the trial court, in its discretion, may properly deny such a motion. *Kelly v. Hard Money Funding, Inc.*, 2004 UT App 44, ¶ 42, 87

P.3d 734. And, it is clear that if the court decides to deny a motion to amend, it need not find that all three conditions are satisfied. A denial may be justified on the basis of only one or two of these factors. *Id.*, at ¶ 42. See also, *Daniels v. Gamma West Brachytherapy, LLC.*, 2009 UT 66 ¶ 58. Here, after considerable argument, the trial court found that the motion to amend was untimely, and that it posed the potential of prejudice to the parties. (Rec. 1014 p. 56-58) It therefore declined to allow the amendment. This decision is clearly supported by the relevant law and the facts on the record.

In the recent case of *Kelly v. Hard Money Funding, Inc.*, 2004 UT App 44, 87 P.3d 734, the Court of Appeals undertook a detailed analysis of the issue of timeliness, and stated that under established case law a proposed amendment is generally deemed to be untimely when it is made in the advanced procedural stages of the litigation. These would include motions made “after the close of discovery, upon the eve of trial, or after an order of dismissal had been entered.” *Id.*, ¶ 58. Here, the appellant failed to offer her motion until after she had finished presenting evidence on the question of Mr. McNeil’s liability, at a time when the trial was nearly complete. (Rec 1013 pp. 40:18-25, 41:1-17) Since the close of evidence is unquestionably later than the “close of discovery” or “the eve of trial”, under the standard definition of the term, Ms. Ottens’ motion was untimely<sup>14</sup>.

---

<sup>14</sup> Parenthetically, the Court should recognize that there was no justification for waiting this long. Counsel for appellant knew of the existence of D&K from the inception of the litigation. The police report that appellant intended to introduce into evidence, and which appellant attached to numerous memoranda filed with the court, indicates that D&K was the registered owner of the vehicle. See, for example, the *Reply Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion to Amend*, filed on September 26, 2006



Similarly, the court's finding of unavoidable prejudice is also well supported. Under Utah law a party is said to suffer unavoidable prejudice when the amendment would force it to litigate issues for which it had no time to prepare. *GLFP Ltd. v. CL Management, Ltd.*, 2007 UT App 131 ¶ 28, 163 P.3d 636. Here at least two parties would have been placed in this position had Ms. Ottens been allowed to amend her complaint for a third time, after the close of her case on liability.

First, as argued during the hearing, D&K, had never hired an attorney, had never conducted discovery, and had never explored any defenses that it might have been available. (Rec. 1014 p. 49:17-23, p. 50:1:24) Clearly, the lack of representation and lack of discovery would have placed it at a disadvantage in defending the allegations of wrongdoing. Second, since Ms. Ottens seems to want to amend her complaint not only to add D&K, but to add a cause of action to pierce the corporate veil<sup>15</sup>, Mr. McNeil would also be severely prejudiced. Had he been put on notice of that allegation, additional evidence would have been sought,

---

(R.155) Additionally Jake McNeil testified that he was working for D&K at the time of the accident, and Mr. Lambert questioned him extensively about whether other employees were there helping and asked if Jake could remember their names. (*Deposition of Jake McNeil*, attached as addendum 1, p. 22:17-29, p. 26:1-12, 29:1-20.) Finally, the Defendant himself noted in an early pleading that Jake had claimed to be working for D&K. ( R. 124-127.)

<sup>15</sup> Mr. McNeil and his company could have an identity of interest only if the veil is pierced, and the parties are treated as one. An identity of interest is defined as having the same legal position and defenses, *Penrose* ¶ 14. If the veil exists, and the parties are treated as two separate individuals, then they would not have the same interest or position in the litigation. As was indicated in oral argument, Dan McNeil spent three days pointing to D&K as the employer of Jake McNeil. Had D&K been on notice and represented, it might have disagreed with that assessment. Or it might have offered other defenses. (Rec. 1014 p. 50:1-5)

additional testimony would have been introduced, and additional arguments would have been made, i.e., evidence regarding corporate formalities. Allowing Ms. Ottens to amend after the close of evidence to make this argument would have allowed her to try a case that was not plead and was not defended. This would have been unduly prejudicial, as the court expressly found. (Rec. 1014 p.57)

**2.) Permitting an amendment to bring in D&K under Rule 15(b) after the close of evidence would have violated the due process requirements of the United States Constitution and the Utah State Constitution.**

In response to the motion to amend, the trial court also considered whether it could be proper under Rule 15(b) of the *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure*, which may permit an amendment to conform to the evidence presented at trial. The court ultimately concluded that there was insufficient evidence presented during trial to show that D&K and Dan McNeil had an identity of interest or that the corporate veil should be breached<sup>16</sup>. Thus, if D&K were to be brought in, it would be as an entirely separate party. Faced with this situation, the trial court rightfully held that allowing Ms. Ottens to add a party, which was not represented, after the close of evidence, and to allow a jury to assess damages and allocate fault on that party would clearly be in derogation of the guarantees of due process. (Rec. 1014 p. 57:7-13)

The constitutions of both the United States and the state of Utah contain provisions protecting persons from deprivation of rights and property without the due process of the law. *Utah Const.* Article I, § 7, *U.S. Const.* am. 14. As our courts have held, this requires, at a

---

<sup>16</sup> For example, there was no evidence of commingling of funds or failure to observe corporate formalities presented during trial.

minimum, that a party be given notice of the allegations levied against it, and be afforded an adequate opportunity to answer and defend. See, *Searle v. Searle* 2001 UT App 307 ¶ 36, 38 P.3d 307, quoting *Peralta v. Heights Med. Ctr., Inc.*, 485 U.S. 80, 84, 108 S.Ct. 896, 899, 99 L.Ed.2d 75. This would not have occurred in this case if Ms. Ottens had been allowed to bring in D&K after evidence had closed.

Ironically, the very cases cited by Ms. Ottens to justify her attempt at the untimely amendment hold that such an action would inevitably run afoul of the minimum requirements of procedural due process. In *Hernandez v. Baker* 2004 UT App 462, 104 P.3d 664, the plaintiff obtained a default judgment against Mr. Baker. After default was entered against the defendant, the plaintiff moved to amend its pleadings and sought an immediate default and amended judgment of a corporate entity owned by Mr. Baker, Performance Auto. The trial court obliged, and naturally, Performance Auto sought a review on appeal on both jurisdictional and due process grounds.

In its first argument, Performance claimed that the trial court lacked jurisdiction over it because it was never served with a copy of the amended complaint, which it claimed was a prerequisite for finding jurisdiction. The Court of Appeals disagreed, in part, with that contention. It noted that if there was an identity of interest between the corporate entity and Mr. Baker, jurisdiction would have been established by the filing of the amended complaint. It further noted that the record showed only that Baker was an owner of the company, which

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